
 

 

 
Warwickshire Police and Crime 

Panel 

 
Date:  Thursday 3 February 2022 
Time:  11.00 am 
Venue:  Committee Room 2, Shire Hall 

 
Membership 
Councillor David Reilly (Chair) 
Councillor Derek Poole 
Councillor Barbara Brown 
Councillor Ian Davison 
Councillor Jenny Fradgley 
Councillor Clare Golby 
Councillor John Holland 
Councillor Dave Humphreys 
Councillor Christopher Kettle 
Councillor Bhagwant Singh Pandher 
Andy Davis 
Andrew Davies 
 
Items on the agenda: -  
 

1.   Proposed Local Police Precept 2022/23 3 - 64 

 To consider the Police and Crime Commissioner’s proposed precept 
for 2022/23 and make a report to the Commissioner on the proposals 
by 8 February 2022. 
 
 

 

Monica Fogarty 
Chief Executive 

Warwickshire County Council 
Shire Hall, Warwick 

 



 

Warwickshire Police and 
Crime Panel 
Thursday 3 February 2022 

Page 2 
  

 

 
To download papers for this meeting scan here with your camera  

 
Disclaimers 
 
Webcasting and permission to be filmed 
Please note that this meeting will be filmed for live broadcast on the internet and can be viewed on 
line at warwickshire.public-i.tv. Generally, the public gallery is not filmed, but by entering the 
meeting room and using the public seating area you are consenting to being filmed. All recording 
will be undertaken in accordance with the Council's Standing Orders. 
 
COVID-19 Pandemic 
Any member or officer of the Council or any person attending this meeting must inform Democratic 
Services if within a week of the meeting they discover they have COVID-19 or have been in close 
proximity to anyone found to have COVID-19. 
 

 



  
   

1 
 

  

Warwickshire Budget 2022-23 and              
Medium Term Financial Plan                                

2022/23 – 2026/27 

 

 

 

Report of the Treasurer, Director of Finance, Chief Executive and Chief 

Constable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Published: 24th January 2022 

      

Page 3

Page 1 of 42 Agenda Item 1



  
   

2 
 

WARWICKSHIRE BUDGET 2022/23 and 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2022/23 – 2026/27 

Report of the Treasurer, Director of Finance, Chief Executive and Chief Constable 

This budget report has been prepared using the information included in the 

draft police finance settlement as announced on the 16th December 2021 and 

estimated information on collection fund surplus/deficit and council tax base 

information from the billing authorities as at the 21st January 2022.  The final 

settlement is expected in late January/early February 2022 and confirmed 

council tax information by the end of January.  As a result the figures quoted 

in this report are as up to date as possible, but are still draft, and there will be 

further changes in the final budget approved by the Commissioner.   

1. Purpose of the Report 

The purpose of this report is to set out the budget and precept proposals for decision 

by the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC). This is the first budget of the PCC’s 

second term in office.  It is one of the key responsibilities of the Commissioner and 

also one of the most important annual decisions he will make under the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

This report provides information on the provisional police funding settlement for 

2022/23 and outlines the draft revenue and capital budget, council tax precept 

proposal, and medium term financial plan (MTFP) including reserve balances. The 

draft revenue budget is presented subject to final confirmation on the council tax 

base and surplus/deficits from local authorities, along with the final police funding 

settlement from government, but is based on the most up to date information that is 

available at the time of writing.  As a result there will be some changes to the draft 

budget, compared to the final budget, which must be approved by the Commissioner 

before the end of February. 

2. Recommendations 

The Panel is asked to: 

i) Note the information contained in the report, including:  

 A draft net budget requirement of £120.964m for 2022-23 (subject to final 

confirmation) 

 A precept (council tax) requirement of £56.710m for 2022-23, (subject to 

final confirmation of the council tax base and collection fund surplus/deficit 

positions of each district). 

Page 4

Page 2 of 42



  
   

3 
 

ii) Support the Commissioners proposal to increase the 2022-23 precept by £9.99 

per annum (3.95%) for police purposes raising it to £262.95 for a band D 

property.  

iii) Note the future risks, challenges, uncertainties and opportunities included in the 

precept proposal, together with the financial and operational considerations 

identified, along with the benefits that this budget will provide. 

iv)  Note the Home Office grant allocations notified through the provisional settlement 

and the estimated Band D council tax base and collection fund surplus/deficits 

received from the billing authorities. 

v) Note the current Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP), the capital programme, 

prudential indicators and the reserves position.   

3. Executive Summary 

The report clearly sets out the key priorities and service improvements that this 

budget will provide for, which have been determined following a comprehensive 

budget setting process with the Chief Constable and her staff and a wider 

consultation process with the public and other key stakeholders.  These priorities 

and service investments are reflected in the specific details contained in the report 

which includes: 

 Police and Crime Commissioners (PCC’s) revenue budget for 2022/23 

 Proposed precept for 2022/23 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 2022/23 to 2026/27 

 Anticipated reserves position 2022/23 to 2026/27 

 Outline capital budget 2022/23 to 2026/27 and prudential indicators 

The PCC is required to notify the Warwickshire Police and Crime Panel of his 

proposed council tax precept by 1st February 2022 

Having considered the PCC’s proposals the Panel must make a report to the PCC 

on the proposed council tax precept. A decision to veto the precept has to be agreed 

by at least two-thirds of the Panel members. The PCC has to have regard to the 

report made by the Panel. Should it be necessary, a second Panel meeting will be 

held on the 10th February 2022 to consider the PCC’s revised precept proposals for 

2022/23.  

Legislation provides that the council tax requirement, precept and council tax levels 

are to be finally determined by the end of February prior to the start of the relevant 

financial year. 

In determining his budget and precept proposals the Commissioner has considered: 

Page 5

Page 3 of 42



  
   

4 
 

 The priorities included in the new Police and Crime Plan 

 His financial strategy to set a good and balanced budget. 

 The need to establish a robust Information Communication Technology (ICT) 

infrastructure. 

 The policing model and business plans of the Chief Constable. 

 National targets and objectives including the Strategic Policing Requirement 

 The outcome of  the public budget and precept consultation process 

 The plans and policies of partner agencies relating to community safety and 

crime reduction 

 Ongoing issues associated with the global covid pandemic. 

 The policy of the Government on public spending, set out in the spending 

review 2021, including precept flexibility up to £10 and any other issues 

communicated in the draft settlement for policing released in December 2021. 

 The medium term financial plan obligations and risks  

 The drive for continuous improvement, efficient working and value for money.    

 Ensure that Warwickshire police is resilient, sustainable and a firm financial 

legacy is established that delivers appropriate future funding and reserve 

levels 

After careful consideration of each of these factors, the Commissioner is proposing a 

Band D precept increase of £9.99 per annum for the 2022/23 financial year.  This 

equates to an increase of 3.95% and is within the referendum limits set by 

Government. The Commissioner has allocated approximately 98% of the net 

revenue budget to the Chief Constable for use on local policing, including regional 

and local collaborations in order to safeguard and improve policing services across 

the entire Warwickshire force. A precept increase below this level would therefore 

require in-year savings to be made to balance the budget, and potentially some of 

the anticipated benefits outlined in this report not being realised.  

The PCC’s draft budget includes a net budget requirement of £120.964m as shown 

in more detail in table 4.  This includes consequential Council Tax for each property 

band based on the Commissioners proposal as follows: 

Table 1 

Band A (6/9th) £175.299847 

Band B (7/9th) £204.516488 

Page 6

Page 4 of 42



  
   

5 
 

Band C (8/9th) £233.733129 

Band D £262.949770 

Band E (11/9th) £321.383052 

Band F (13/9th) £379.816335 

Band G (15/9th) £438.249617 

Band H (18/9th) £525.899540 

 

In proposing his precept the Commissioner has also had regard for the position on 

reserves.  He has reviewed his reserves position in line with the Treasurer’s 

comments in respect of the robustness of the budget and the adequacy of reserves.  

He has also instructed the Chief Constable and her staff to exercise tight budgetary 

control and that over spending of 2022/23 departmental budgets should be avoided 

and the utmost caution be exercised in entering into expenditure which creates 

additional commitments in future years.  The Commissioner has agreed that he will 

be kept fully informed of the financial position throughout the year, through regular 

monitoring reports and holding the Chief Constable to account. 

4. Spending Review 2021 (CSR21) and the Police Finance 

Settlement 2022/23 

On 27 October 2021, Chancellor of the Exchequer, Rishi Sunak MP announced the 

outcome of the 2021 comprehensive spending review (CSR21) alongside his 

Autumn Budget 2021, which included details on the economy and fiscal outlook, 

along with high level funding announcements.  Speculation prior to the actual 

announcement was that the Chancellor would outline a small increase in government 

spending but, these were expected to be committed to the NHS, defence and 

schools leaving other unprotected services at a much greater risk of facing cuts. 

However, some of the messages from the spending review appeared to be more 

positive than anticipated and some of the main headlines more specific to policing 

are included below. 

CSR21 outlined the precept flexibility that would be afforded to Police and Crime 

Commissioners (PCCs) in England in each of the next three years.  This was set at a 

£10 council tax referendum limit.   The Government further outlined that if all PCCs 

in England and Wales were to take full advantage of this flexibility, this would raise 

up to an additional £774m by 2024-25 based on current forecasts for policing 

services nationally.  The government also included in the announcement the 

increases it anticipates for council tax bases in England year on year.  These are 

shown below, along with the current assumptions for council tax base increases in 

Warwickshire for the refreshed MTFP, for comparison purposes: 

Page 7

Page 5 of 42



  
   

6 
 

Table 2 

 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27 

England tax base 
growth forecast 

0.4% 1.1% 1.5% 1.4% 1.2% 0.0% 

Warwickshire tax 
base growth 
forecast 

0.2% 
(actual) 

1.76% 
(latest 

estimate, 
subject to 

confirmation) 

2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 

  
Further announcements included that total Home Office Funding is to be increased 

in real terms by an average of 1.9% over the CSR21 period. 

Confirmation to the continued commitment to the police uplift programme through an 

additional £540m to complete the recruitment of the final 8,000 officers, by March 

2023.   

An additional £42 million for policing for new programmes that reduce crime and 

drugs misuse. According to the release, this is on top of £108m for existing 

programmes such as the Safer Street Fund and more enforcement to tackle drug 

misuse through the County Lines Programme.  Although it is unclear whether this is 

new money or refers to previously announced funding streams. 

The CSR21 provided for a real terms growth rate of 3.3% per year over the course of 

the next three years for the Ministry of Justice to extend justice capacity, and 

improve the efficiency of the courts system and estate.   

Funding for victim’s support services will be increasing to over £185m by 2024-25, 

an uplift of 85% from 2019-20 levels. 

More generally the announcement included an end to the public sector pay freeze in 

2022 along with changes to the national minimum wage.  These changes 

accompanied, the national insurance changes that the Prime Minister announced in 

September, whereby there would be a 1.25% increase in national insurance from 

April 2022 ringfenced for health and social care. 

The provisional 2022/23 police funding settlement was announced on 16th 

December 2021 in a written ministerial statement by the Crime and Policing Minister, 

Kit Malthouse. This provided a more detailed overview of national funding levels for 

policing, in addition to more specific funding on the levels of funding for one year 

(2022/23) for policing services in Warwickshire.  Feedback from stakeholders on the 

contents of the provisional settlement is sought, prior to publication of the final 

settlement which is expected later in January .or early February. 

The main national headlines are as follows: 

 The Government is proposing a total police funding settlement of up to £16.9 

billion in 2022/23, an increase of up to £1.1 billion when compared to 2021/22. 

Page 8

Page 6 of 42



  
   

7 
 

 It assumes that PCC’s will take advantage of the full precept flexibility, and on 

this basis the settlement outlines that overall police funding available to PCCs 

will increase by up to £796 million next year. This breaks down as:  

o An additional £550 million of core funding in 2022/23, was announced, 

representing an average increase of around 5.7%.  A further £100 

million in 2023/24 and an additional £150 million in 2024/25, bringing 

the total of additional core funding to £800m nationally over the next 3 

years.  The draft settlement suggested that the additional funding was 

intended to fund the NI increase and a pay award given the ending of 

the public sector pay freeze. 

o Up to an additional £246 million from the proposed council tax precept 
flexibility, on the assumption that the maximum £10 increase will be 
approved by PCC’s. 
  

 From 2022/23, PCCs will receive all core funding as a total resource. This will 

provide maximum flexibility and still provides options for investing in critical 

infrastructure.  

To provide some local Warwickshire context on the provisional settlement, it 

confirmed a £2.066m increase in revenue core grant funding.  

Other ring-fenced grants, notified as part of the settlement, are also received for 

police pensions, and for the final year salary costs of the Government’s 20,000 

police uplift programme.  For Warwickshire this equates to 55 further officers.  

Previous year uplift grant is all included in the core grant.  The draft settlement did 

however confirm that capital grant would be removed from 2022/23, representing an 

annual loss of £0.113m of capital funding for Warwickshire. 

The overall changes in core funding can be broken down as follows: 

Table 3 

Description 2021/22        

£m 

2022/23         

£m 

Variance      

£m 

Variance    

% 

Police Grant & exDCLG grant 55.743 59.100 3.357  

Local Council Tax Support 

Scheme grant 

3.910 3.910 0.000  

2011/12 Council Tax Freeze grant 0.877 0.877 0.000  

2013/14 Council Tax Freeze grant 0.368 0.368 0.000  

LCTS grant (tax base shortfall) 0.781 0.00 (0.781)  

Local Council tax income 

guarantee grant 

0.509 0.00 (0.509)  

Total ‘Core’ Funding 62.188 64.255 2.067 3.3% 

Page 9

Page 7 of 42



  
   

8 
 

Note – the Government figures which quote a 5.6% increase in funding for Warwickshire, exclude the 

removal of the LCTS grants for the tax base shortfall and the local council tax income guarantee grant 

and include the estimated precept income based on a maximum increase. 

Core grant represents just over 50% of the total funding for Warwickshire PCC the 

remainder being made up of precept funding.  This breakdown of funding over recent 

years is shown graphically below and also in table form, showing the increases in 

funding and the percentage change year on year.  

 

The graph and data indicate that Government grant was reduced from 2016/17 to 

2017/18 and then remained flat into 2018/19.  It only began to increase in 2019/20, 

to just above the 2016/17 level, and then more significant increases in 2019/20 and 

in later years, due in part to the uplift programme.  The three year phased uplift 

programme makes direct comparisons between core funding more difficult, however, 

it is clear that increasingly over recent years, precept income has taken up a greater 

proportion of total funding to meet the increased operating costs of officers, staff and 

ongoing running costs.   

Table 4 

 2016/17 

budget     

£m 

2017/18 

budget    

£m 

2018/19 

budget    

£m 

2019/20 

budget    

£m 

2020/21 

budget    

£m 

2021/22 

budget    

£m 

Draft 

2022/23 

budget  

£m 

Main Grant 31.035 30.602 30.602 31.267 33.722 36.032 38.220 

Page 10

Page 8 of 42



  
   

9 
 

Ex DCLG 

grant 

17.425 17.181 17.181 17.519 18.715 19.711 20.880 

LCTS grant 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.781 0.000 

Tax income 

guarantee 

grant  

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.509 0.000 

LCTS grant 3.910 3.910 3.910 3.910 3.910 3.910 3.910 

2011/12 

council tax 

freeze grant 

0.877 0.876 0.876 0.877 0.877 0.877 0.877 

2013/14 

council tax 

freeze grant 

0.368 0.368 0.368 0.368 0.368 0.368 0.368 

Total Core 

funding excl 

precept 

53.615 52.937 52.937 53.941 57.592 62.188 64.255 

% change in 

core funding 

 (1.3)% 0.0% 1.9% 6.8% * 
includes 

uplift grant 

8.0% * 

includes 

uplift grant 

and one off 

core covid 

funding 

3.3% * 

includes 

uplift grant 

Precept – 
combined effect of ctb 

changes and actual 

increases 

37.080 37.864 41.180 47.276 50.127 53.392 56.430   

*estimated 

Precept 

surplus/deficit 

0.410 0.261 0.314 0.217 0.016 (0.230) 0.280      
* estimated 

Total precept 

funding 

37.490 38.125 41.494 47.493 50.143 53.162 56.710 

% change in 

total precept 

funding 

 1.7% 8.8% 14.5% 5.6% 6.0% 6.7% 

 

The precept referendum threshold has been confirmed at £10 for a Band D property.  

The PCC is proposing to increase, the band D precept by £9.99 and the rates and 

levels of funding referred to earlier are only delivered if this is subsequently 

approved.  In proposing this level of increase, he is very mindful of the pressures on 

Page 11

Page 9 of 42



  
   

10 
 

personal finances as a result of recent increases in the cost of living, including 

surging energy prices.  A £9.99 increase equates to an average increase of 3.95%, 

which is below the current rate of inflation and is equivalent to an additional charge 

of £0.83p per month.  This will increase the band D charge from £252.96 to £262.95 

per annum.  Residents in lower banded properties will pay a lesser increase and vice 

versa.  Such a precept increase is estimated to generate an additional £3.038m of 

funding excluding the collection fund surplus/deficit, but based on the estimated 

increases in council tax base from billing authorities.  

The total tax base is used to calculate the precept that will be collected by billing 

authorities on behalf of the Commissioner. An estimate is currently being used from 

them in lieu of confirmed figures due later this month.  In 2021/22 the tax base used 

in setting the budget for the Commissioner was 211,067.82 band D equivalent 

properties.  For 2022/23 this is estimated to increase by 1.7% to 214,609.15 band D 

equivalent properties.  Further changes to this will impact on the total precept 

funding in 2022/23. 

The Collection fund deficit which has to be financed in 2022/23 in respect of last year 

is £0.226m.  This was following the mandated spreading of deficits over three years 

due to the pandemic to ease budgetary pressures.  Billing authorities are required to 

confirm their collection fund surpluses or deficits in respect of the 2022/23 budget 

process by mid-January, and whilst not all information has been received at the time 

of writing, those that have provided information have reported some significant 

variations.  Once final figures are known, the council tax requirement will be 

approved by the Commissioner.  

5. Draft based budget preparation, approach and scrutiny 

The Commissioners financial strategy is to have an affordable, sustainable and 

effective policing plan supported by a good and balanced budget, based on sound 

assumptions and where day to day expenditure is matched by core funding 

(Government grant and precept). 

 

To achieve this it requires the budget to reflect the Police and Crime Plan priorities, 

make adequate provision for risk, and ensure that it should be fully integrated with 

operational business plans and policing strategy.  The Commissioners budget fulfils 

these aims.  The force is however taking every opportunity to improve the business 

planning process by increasing participation, transparency and scrutiny to ensure it 

aligns with the budget process, key priorities in the Police and Crime Plan and 

provides for continual improvement.   

 

The force and Commissioner has considered key corporate risks when setting the 

budget.  Essentially these risks are operational and organisational around managing 

partnerships, assets, financial resilience and key ICT and associated services.  The 

risk registers for the force and PCC are reported regularly to the Joint Audit and 

Standards Committee (JASC) and are updated during the course of the year.  The 

Page 12

Page 10 of 42



  
   

11 
 

revised five year financial forecast or Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and in 

particular the 2022/23 budget detailed within this report aligns the force and 

Commissioners financial resources to agreed priorities and anticipated risks and is 

therefore fundamental to overall performance. 

The Treasurer has worked closely with the Director of Finance in the force and his 

staff throughout the year during the budget monitoring process and in the 

preparation of the budget for 2022/23.  In respect of the detail of the draft budget, 

this has included (but was not limited to) the identification and agreement of key 

principles and assumptions, methodology, challenge and scrutiny of the budget 

workings.  In addition, any changes or amendments have been discussed and 

agreed where appropriate. 

The Commissioner together with his senior team have held regular discussions with 

the Chief Constable and her Chief Officers throughout the year, particularly prior to 

and throughout the budget setting process including the announcement and 

interpretation of the draft settlement. 

This has resulted in a number of full and robust discussions on the budget 

requirement, the national and local operational and financial challenges, the capital 

programme and its financing, the precept options available and a review of the 

MTFP, reserve balances and associated risks. 

Furthermore there has been a significant degree of scrutiny and challenge 

undertaken by the Commissioner and his team, prior to and during the various 

budget meetings, with broad agreement on the force budget for 2022/23 between the 

Commissioner and Chief Constable reached earlier this month.  However decisions 

on the precept proposal have only been made, once the various stakeholder 

engagement meetings were complete, and the results of the public consultation were 

available in late January. 

 

6. 2022/23 Draft Revenue Budget 

The revenue budget has been compiled based on the process outlined above.  In 

line with this approach, the Panel is advised that the total net budget requirement in 

2022/23 is £120.964m. This equates to a £5.614m (4.8%) increase from the 2021/22 

net budget requirement level of £115.350m. 

Other than the precept funding assumptions and core grant increases contained in 

the provisional settlement, the draft budget has been built based on a number of 

other assumptions relating to expenditure and income, further details on these is 

included later in this report.   

The table below summarises the 2022/23 draft budget requirement: 

 

Page 13

Page 11 of 42



  
   

12 
 

Table 5 

Category of spend 2021/22 

approved 

budget                

£m 

2022/23 

approved 

budget              

£m 

Variance       

£m 

Police officer, PCSO & staff 

pay and overtime 

87.090 95.055 7.965 

Other employee expenses 2.185 2.375 0.190 

Premises costs 3.027 3.523 0.496 

Transport 2.790 2.847 0.057 

Supplies and Services 13.958 14.709 0.751 

Third party payments 13.193 11.264 (1.929) 

Capital financing costs 3.262 5.176 1.914 

Gross expenditure 125.505 134.949 9.444 

    

Income (11.272) (13.735) (2.463) 

    

Net force budget 114.233 121.214 6.981 

    

Contribution (from) reserves 0.000 (0.250) 0.250 

Contribution to reserves 1.117 0.000 1.117 

    

‘Draft’ Net budget 

requirement 

115.350 120.964 5.614 

    

Funded by:    

Core Central Grant (62.188) (64.254) (2.066) 

Council Tax Precept (53.162) (56.710) (3.548) 

Total Funding/net budget 

requirement 

(115.350) (120.964) (5.614) 

 

There are a number of significant aspects of the budget to highlight in line with the 

Police and Crime Plan priorities, which have resulted in variations between years.  

These are summarised as follows: 

Table 6 

Description £’m 

2021/22 original net force budget 114.233 

Increased net pay award, including increments for officers and staff 

and increases in pension costs 

3.015 

Page 14

Page 12 of 42



  
   

13 
 

Increased national insurance contributions 0.644 

Increased officer uplift programme pay costs 1.792 

Increase in goods and services inflation 0.471 

Removal of some business transformation costs (0.561) 

Removal of shared & hosted service costs  (0.250) 

Increased capital financing costs 1.914 

Increased unavoidable and legislative costs 0.863 

Increased road safety initiatives 0.250 

Increased business planning costs 0.450 

Various savings identified as part of the 2022/23 budget process (0.201) 

Increased income from contractor vetting (0.560) 

Increase in uplift grant (0.296) 

Increases in income, including ring fenced safer roads income (0.550) 

2022/23 draft net force/PCC budget 121.214 

 

Further explanation in respect of some of the most significant movements are 

outlined below: 

The police officer pay budgets are calculated based on the latest recruitment and 

attrition forecasts, taking into account rank and incremental changes, and an 

estimated 3% pay award effective from the 1st September 2022.  The pay budgets 

also include any changes in anticipated overtime and allowances, which includes 

extra bank holidays in 2022/23 which creates extra officer cost.  The 1.25% increase 

in national insurance charges from the 1st April 2022 are also included.   

Staff pay budgets are also based on an assumed 3.0% pay increase, effective from 

the 1st September 2022, and includes an estimated turnover factor to reflect the time 

lag between staff leaving and new staff being recruited.  

The pay assumption is critical and has been based the subject of a number of 

discussions locally, and based on intelligence and discussions with various national, 

regional and local networks, to ensure it is robust and in line with that of other forces. 

Pay increases applied by other forces range between 2% and 4%, so the budget 

assumption of 3% is comfortably within these parameters.  However, this remains an 

area of risk, and the outcome of any negotiations will not be known for some time.  If 

Page 15

Page 13 of 42



  
   

14 
 

the pay award is higher this will result in an additional in year pressure.  This could 

be met from in year underspending or additional income if it occurs, but if this is not 

forthcoming a separate pay reserve has been set up and would be used to meet any 

additional costs above the assumed level increase.  

The final year of the Governments 20,000 officer uplift programme will provide a 

further 55 officers in total in Warwickshire (part of the final 8,000 increase nationally).  

This will increase overall police officer numbers in Warwickshire to 1,100 by March 

2023 which is the highest it has been for many years, if not ever.  The estimated 

salary costs of the 55 officers are met in part from the ring-fenced uplift grant of £1m, 

and the remaining costs from within the increase in core grant.  The ring-fenced 

grant is only receivable if the officers are recruited in full. However, local investment 

to provide all the necessary equipment and uniforms, in addition to support services 

and training will also be required to ensure that the new recruits are provided with 

the necessary skills and equipment to fulfil their roles.  The new officers will be 

recruited through a series of intakes throughout the year, which will help to improve 

visibility and resilience as they commence their new roles within the response teams.   

The 2022/23 draft budget provides for the final operating model following the 

transition of all remaining services including ICT, transactional services and 

forensics.  This has resulted in movements in budget between pay and non-pay 

dependent on the individual service operating model eg. in house or external, but 

this represents a net movement of £1.9m into pay costs, from third party payments. 

Non-pay costs – a significant proportion of the non-pay increase relates to inflation, 

particularly for utilities, insurance and fuel for vehicles. 

The 2021/22 budget included £1m of business transformation team costs.  This team 

will be stood down in part in 2022/23, as the transition of services should be mostly 

complete.  However, a reduced retained team will be tasked with working to drive out 

more efficient working from the recent ICT investment through the development of 

power applications in some key service areas.  

The forces business planning process has resulted in some additional funding to 

support improvements and changes within the operations of Warwickshire Police, 

particularly around officer training, and improved resilience and resourcing in finance 

and procurement to continue to drive out procurement savings.   

Various unavoidable and legislative spend pressures across a variety of budgets, are 

included in the draft budget.  These are related to either pre-existing decisions or 

have arisen through changes in legislation, national guidance or services provided to 

forces on a national basis and include costs like the National Police Chiefs Council 

(NPCC), Home office system charges and various partnership working contributions 

to name some examples.   

The increase of £1.9m in capital financing costs reflects the increased revenue costs 

associated with recent significant capital investments in ICT transformation, funded 

Page 16

Page 14 of 42



  
   

15 
 

through borrowing.   There is a national expectation on forces to deliver a modern 

digitally enabled workforce that allows officers to spend less time dealing with 

bureaucracy and more time preventing and fighting crime and protecting the public, 

the investments already made through new equipment and upgraded systems as 

part of the transition and transformation process and those further planned as part of 

this draft budget will facilitate this process.  

The force is now the lead force for providing accredited national contractor vetting 

services.  This commercial service is operating effectively, and the income generated 

is included within the wider budget.  It is estimated that the budgeted income will rise 

by a further £0.6m in 2022/23.   As with all commercial services, this carries some 

operational risk which is managed through a separate earmarked reserve.  However 

demand for service is high, and the increased income target looks sound in 2022/23. 

As stated earlier, core Government funding represents just over half of the financing 

for the 2021/22 budget.  The remaining element is financed through council tax.  

Therefore, the precept decision is an important and difficult decision for the PCC, 

made more difficult by the challenges created by the pandemic and the effects it has 

had on people’s lives, in addition to the more recent significant increases in the cost 

of living, which most people are currently experiencing. 

 

7. Anticipated benefits delivered from this budget: 

The draft revenue budget based on a maximum precept increase, will deliver 

additional resources and organisational infrastructure deemed essential to deliver 

the ongoing service transformation of services and support for the growth in officer 

numbers.  This is in line with the Commissioners five key priorities outlined in his 

new Police and Crime Plan which are:  

 Deliver visible and effective policing 

 Fight crime and reduce reoffending 

 Keep people safe and reduce harm 

 Improve the justice experience 

 Strengthen communities 

The main benefits will include: 

 55 additional officers as part of the uplift programme, who are adequately 

trained and equipped to provide modern day policing.  This will help to 

improve resilience and the visibility of policing across Warwickshire. The Chief 

Constable will commence an operational policing review in January 2022 to 

assess how these and all officers and staff are deployed to deliver the most 

Page 17

Page 15 of 42



  
   

16 
 

efficient methods of working but also to protect Warwickshire communities 

and to fight crime. 

 Enhancements in services for contacting the force, through a variety of 

channels – including face to face, telephone contacts, improved control centre 

facilities in Warwick and other digital contact options. 

 Strengthen the forces response to violence against women and girls with 

investment in our vulnerability teams to build capacity and capability. 

 Introduction of new Evidential Review Officers to drive up file quality 

standards to increase the likelihood of positive outcomes for victims by 

improving investigative standards and an improvement in criminal justice 

outcomes.   

 Better equipment and enhanced training for Specials to further support 

neighbourhood policing teams and provide increased visibility.  Also providing 

for their contributions to the Police Federation to give them the same levels of 

protection as standard officers. 

 Improved ICT infrastructure and systems to enable flexible and remote 

working on more robust Warwickshire networks, and the introduction of power 

applications to drive more efficient working from the recent investments in 

equipment and software.  The use of power applications is currently being 

assessed by the force to improve services such as stop and search, and the 

use of force in order to improve policing and legitimacy in the county.  The 

potential use of power applications are also being scoped by the force to 

enhance community based work such as community speedwatch, which could 

significantly improve the user experience and public confidence levels.  

Further details on the plans will be shared with the Commissioner as this work 

progresses. 

 Improvements in the police estate and commitments to improving its 

sustainability, once the full results and recommendations from the estates 

review are understood. 

 Increased resources for road safety and domestic and sexual abuse victims 

through increased Commissioners grants.  The OPCC has committed 

financially to supporting the ongoing work of the Warwickshire Road Safety 

Partnership, in addition to providing an enhanced road safety grants round in 

2022/23, to help improve road safety in Warwickshire.   The Commissioner 

will also provide ongoing and enhanced funding for grant recipients to deliver 

innovative and diverse crime prevention projects and also to help reduce 

reoffending. 

 

Page 18

Page 16 of 42



  
   

17 
 

In setting the 2022/23 budget, the Commissioner has taken the priorities set out in 

the Police and Crime Plan into account, recognised the unavoidable pressures 

policing faces and the planned programmes of transformation work, in addition to 

also discussing at length with the Chief Constable the operational plans she has 

outlined which cut across the three main themes of her Fit for the Future strategy – 

prevent and protect, respond and reassure and operating effectively and efficiently.  

 

The Commissioner is also mindful of the pressures on personal budgets, with the 

recent rises in the cost of living and surging energy prices.  In proposing his precept 

increase of £9.99 he has sought assurances that the anticipated benefits will be 

received and will be monitoring closely the performance and delivery of these over 

the coming year through the weekly holding to account meetings with the Chief 

Constable. 

 

£0.2m of savings have been identified in the 2022/23 draft budget build, and based 

on the anticipated funding increases from core grant and the precept, the draft 

budget is broadly balanced.  However, the Commissioners has requested the Chief 

Constable to drive improved performance and productivity, through more efficient 

working to enhance police services in Warwickshire over the coming year, which she 

will be doing through the operating model review.   

 

8. Budget consultation 
The delay in receiving the financial settlement from the Government from early 

December to mid-December meant that this year’s budget consultation started later 

than was ideal, beginning on December 17. It was based on the financial data that 

was available at the time and included projections for the police precept based on 

the budgetary increases that would be necessary to ensure costs were met, whether 

that came from the central funding or the local precept.   

 

As had been confirmed in the Government’s Spending Review, Police and Crime 

Commissioners were capped at a maximum precept rise of £10 per year on a Band 

D property.  In order to simplify the choices to the public, four options for the precept 

were put forward, all based on the average Band D property banding: a raise of £5 

per year / 42 pence per month; a raise of £7.50 / 63 pence per month; a raise of £10 

per year / 83 pence per month; and a precept freeze (no increase).   

 

Each of these options provided some high-level context around the implications for 

the budget overall of making this precept choice; £7.50 was calculated as the ‘break 

even’ point were rising costs could be met with no diminution of service, whereas £5 

would require efficiency savings which would threaten services and £10 would allow 

additional expenditure to boost service delivery. 

 

A simple online poll, titled ‘Your Police, Your Views’ was set up and launched on 

December 17, linked from the OPCC website and featuring an introduction from the 

Page 19

Page 17 of 42



  
   

18 
 

Commissioner.  The survey was set to last for four weeks until January 17, 2022.  

This was to maximise the time for feedback but also allow the Commissioner the 

opportunity to review all results prior to making any decision on the proposed precept 

level in the draft budget. 

 

The survey was promoted heavily on social media, including paid promotions on 

Twitter, Facebook and Instagram.  The posts reached 56,000 users in Warwickshire 

on Facebook and Instagram, resulting in  792 click-throughs to the survey.  On 

Twitter we reached a further 27,600 users within Warwickshire postcodes, with a 

further 1,352 click-throughs to the survey. 

 

In addition, the survey was further marketed via the Commissioner’s email 

newsletter, which was issued in late December and focussed solely on the budget 

consultation.  It was read by 1,793 individuals, generating 193 click-throughs to the 

survey. In addition, all town and parish councils were written to and asked to help 

promote the survey and encouraged to complete it themselves. 

 

Internal communications were issued by Warwickshire Police and by partners, 

including within the healthcare sector and local authorities. 

Media releases resulted in coverage in the Stratford Herald, 

Leamington/Rugby/Stratford Observer, Redditch Advertiser during early January 

2022.  This included a front page lead article on the proposed budget on the January 

6 and 7 editions of the Observer series. 

 

By the survey’s end date on January 17, a total of 839 responses were received. A 

detailed breakdown of the consultation results will be presented to the Police and 

Crime Panel, however the results were monitored by the Commissioner throughout.  

These have given useful information about people’s perceptions of affordability of the 

precept options, as well as an indication of the levels of support for each potential 

option. 

 

On the question of affordability, we asked respondents to choose between a 

small/medium/large or no increase to the precept. The question had limited 

contextual information beyond the Commissioner’s introduction and was designed to 

find general opinions on affordability of Council Tax increases.  A total of 466 of 

respondents felt that some form of increase was affordable to them, including 239 

who could afford a small increase, 131 who could afford a moderate increase and 96 

who could afford a large increase.  A total of 301 felt that no amount of increase 

would be affordable to them. There were also a number who were unsure or did not 

pay Council Tax.  When the latter categories are removed to show only those who 

proffered a definitive view, there is support for a raise from 61%, with 39% preferring 

no increase. 

 

Page 20

Page 18 of 42



  
   

19 
 

The survey then asked respondents to indicate which would be their preference for 

the precept, with figures quoted for an average Band D property.  The current 

Council Tax charges for each band were shown, alongside some high level 

implications for service levels of each option. There was also an option for 

respondents to state they did not pay Council Tax.  The results showed a swing in 

support among taxpayers, with support for the maximum raise increasing 

considerably from 13% to 45%.  There was also change in the level of support for 

some form of raise to 69%.  There remained 31% who do not support any form of 

raise. 

 

The final sections of the survey focused on understanding where spending should be 

prioritised.  The results showed that the top results were: 

1. Improving the quality of police investigations  

2. with better outcomes for victims (61%) 

3. Improving the visibility of policing (59%) 

4. Investing in technology to allow front line policing 

5. to respond more efficiently and effectively (45%) 

6. Investing in crime prevention in the community (45%) 

7. Making police more accessible, including at police 

8. station front counters (42%) 

 

The survey also established that the places where people wanted to see most 

improvement were in our town centres, followed by in our rural areas and then on 

our roads.  Questions also asked respondents about their views on the visibility and 

accessibility of Warwickshire; the responses shows there is significant need for 

improvement, which the proposed precept increase of this draft budget seeks to 

address with additional investment. 

 

Bolstering the online poll, a series of consultation meetings were also held with 

representative groups to establish their views: 

• Business and rural crime organisations 

• Local MPs 

• Town and parish councils 

• Local Authority Chief Executives/Finance Leads and Council Leaders 

• Police workforce representatives 

• The Chief Constable and senior officer team. 

 

A consensus of general opinion was that, while tax raises are never likely to be 

welcomed widely by taxpayers, provided the public sees genuine improvements in 

service, accessibility and visibility from the police, they would on balance be 

prepared to support a maximum increase.  There was also comment that the 

Commissioner would need to take into account the affordability of such a raise on 

some sections of the community, particularly when it is likely that other precepting 

authorities would also be seeking to raise their portions of Council Tax. 

Page 21

Page 19 of 42



  
   

20 
 

 

In conclusion, while the numbers of responses did suffer from the timing of the 

consultation over the Christmas period and also from high levels of general 

surveying that was going on across the public sector, particularly involving victims of 

crime, it has provided the Commissioner with sufficient information to understand 

broad public sentiment.  There is majority support for a precept raise, with just under 

half of responding taxpayers supporting the maximum raise. 

 

This must be balanced against the results of respondents who do not support any 

raise and the questions of affordability, albeit those in lower incomes do receive relief 

on their Council Tax and will be paying proportionately less. 

 

Overall, the consultation does demonstrate that the majority would support an 

increase as long as the anticipated benefits and improved services are delivered.  

This why the priorities for spending identified in the consultation are matched to the 

benefits anticipated from the proposed budget. 

 

9. Capital Programme. 

 

The draft capital programme includes investment in operational elements of 

premises, equipment, ICT and vehicle fleet.  The Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 

2026/27 has been reviewed and updated in consultation with the Chief Constable, 

the respective business areas and scrutinised by the PCC and his team. 

The Capital Programme reflects known priorities and commitments to meet business 

requirements as well as provides for a future which is continuing to taking shape. 

The ICT capital budget in 2021/22 was dominated by the Evolve transition and 

transformation investment to complete the on premise design and build of the 

(accredited) ICT infrastructure (network, storage and back up).  This has consisted of 

expenditure on hardware, software, consultancy fees and application migration 

solutions.  In 2021/22 the Evolve Programme has included an extensive replacement 

of devices which was an acceleration of the ICT replacement programme, and the 

reason for some of the increased spend in year.  Operationally this means that the 

2022/23 future year’s replacement programme has been reviewed and reduced 

budget provision is now required in 2022/23. There may still be some slippage from 

2021/22 and this has been included in the 2022/23 programme based on the most 

up to date information, but this will continue to be tracked up to year end. 

National programmes also influence local policing, and contain both revenue and 

capital implications, the replacement of the Airwave radio system being one 

example.  The Emergency Service Network (ESN) is the national programme for 

providing communications in the future.  This is likely to be a significant cost but the 

exact timing of implementation remains uncertain. 

Page 22

Page 20 of 42



  
   

21 
 

The estates programme is in large part non-specific as it will be reliant on the 

outcomes from the estates review which is not yet finalised.  In lieu of this detail and 

the working up of priority and timing of specific estates work £1.8m has been 

included in the 2022/23 programme and then a further £1.5m across the future years 

of the medium term capital plan. 

The vehicle replacement programme for 2022/23 has been set at a modest level, but 

also reflects a programme that is realistic and meets identified business needs.  

There is some slippage on the vehicle replacement programme from 2021/22 which 

stems from issues with national supply chains for vehicles, and shortages of some 

specific parts including microchips which are in high demand internationally.  Current 

forecasts suggest that it will be unlikely to accelerate vehicle replacement in 2022/23 

and as such a resetting of the budget has occurred.  The operational impact of this is 

currently being managed through the retention of existing vehicles, and there are no 

reports of significantly increased revenue maintenance costs, although vehicle hire 

costs, which are also revenue, do remain a challenge. The ongoing operational 

impact needs to be kept in check and managed if the situation is prolonged.  

Part of the picture for vehicle replacement is also the consideration of the type of 

vehicles that are necessary for the force to operate effectively.  This will need to 

accommodate changes in the industry and migration to electric and ‘greener’ hybrid 

vehicles over time, along with the infrastructure that they require, which in turn will 

reduce the carbon footprint of the fleet. 

The funding of the capital programme in 2022/23 and beyond will be almost entirely 

from local resources.  In recent years the scope to use revenue or draw down from 

reserves as a source of capital funding has been limited, given the revenue position 

and the need to protect reserves due to the uncertainty over the medium-term 

financial position on future levels of funding.  Therefore, in lieu of capital receipts, the 

majority of capital expenditure has been financed through borrowing.  Any borrowing 

has to be within the parameters of the treasury rules contained within the prudential 

indicators shown at Appendix A.  However, the recent focus of the capital 

programme to fund short-life assets (ICT mainly) has also had the effect of 

increasing the burden on revenue through the workings of the Minimum Revenue 

Provision (MRP), which is the statutory mechanism whereby assurance is sort that 

adequate revenue is set aside to repay borrowing.  

From 2022/23 onwards, there will be no government funding to support general 

capital expenditure, but the availability of some capital receipts has opened up more 

options for financing the capital programme, and these will be used in the most cost 

effective way to minimise the impact on the revenue account of statutory capital 

charges.  Borrowing, although not specific, will be targeted against assets with a 

longer term use eg. estates, to better manage the revenue implications of borrowing.  

This strategy needs to be refined and will be developed further in line with our expert 

external Treasury management advisors. 

Page 23

Page 21 of 42



  
   

22 
 

The Commissioner is providing for significant capital investment of £44.611m over 

the next five years, as shown in the table below.  The revenue consequences of this 

level of spending are incorporated into the MTFP. The capital programme will be 

kept under regular review challenged by the Commissioner, although there may 

need to be in year variations during the course of the year as projects unfold.   Table 

7 outlines the high level capital programme and medium term capital spending plans. 

Table 7 

 Capital Programme 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  TOTAL  

  £m £m £m £m £m £m  £m  

                

Estates 2.113     1.881      1.500      1.500      1.500  1.500     9.994  

                

Evolve ICT Transition 
and Transformation 15.182     0.742  0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000    15.924  

ICT Projects,systems 
& applications 0.063     0.408      1.387      1.551      1.000  1.000     5.409  

ICT Hardware and 
device replacement 0.175     0.100      1.088      0.576      0.517  2.000     4.456  

                

Vehicle Replacement 0.622     1.300      1.407      1.443      1.204  1.204     7.180  

                

Plant & Equipment 0.194     0.254      0.300      0.300      0.300  0.300     1.648  

                

TOTAL   18.349      4.685      5.682      5.370      4.521      6.004    44.611  

 

The expected funding of the programme is outlined in table 8 below. Reserves are 

being used primarily to manage risk, finance one-off revenue costs and meet the 

costs of exceptional or unexpected operational events, therefore the majority of the 

capital programme will be financed from borrowing, and /or capital receipts where 

they are available in 2022/23.  Reserves are not currently planned to meet capital 

costs, but this will be kept under review.  A prudent assessment based on known 

information and estimations about the level and timing of receipts has been built into 

the capital programme funding for future years.  

Warwickshire has not undertaken any long term borrowing for some time.  Currently 

borrowing is relatively cheap, but the timing of borrowing will be key, and cashflow is 

being closely monitored to determine when such borrowing may be necessary.  The 

capital receipts have provided increased opportunities around financing and 

borrowing decisions will only be taken in line with our treasury management strategy.  

The loss of central capital grant from 2022/23 onwards, does represent a challenge 

in the medium term for financing of the capital programme.  The capital strategy will 

outline this in more detail, but the continuance of relatively small annual capital 

contributions to capital to substitute the loss of capital grant, as in the 2021/22 

budget is included throughout the medium term financial plan period.  This will help 

Page 24

Page 22 of 42



  
   

23 
 

to reduce the borrowing requirement and develop a more sustainable source of 

capital financing. 

The prudential code and indicators provide the capital control mechanisms for 

borrowing, they consider the revenue effects of borrowing, which have been fully 

reflected in the draft budget and across the MTFP in increased capital financing 

charges.   

Table 8 

Proposed source of 
funding 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27  TOTAL  

  £m £m £m £m £m £m  £m  

Receipts 4.700 2.437 2.451 0.587 0.000 0.000 10.175 

General capital grant 0.113 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.113 

Specific grant – 
Emergency Services 
Network 0.018 0.000 0.488 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.506 

Safer roads Reserve 
funding 0.125 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.125 

Revenue funding 0.000 0.433 0.320 0.320 0.320 0.320 1.713 

Borrowing 13.393 1.815 2.423 4.463 4.201 5.684 31.979 

Total capital funding 18.349 4.685 5.682 5.370 4.521 6.004 44.611 

 

10. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 

The MTFP was last formally agreed in February 2021 although this has been 

updated and refreshed during the course of the year.    

The key assumptions as at February 2022 are as follows: 

 Council tax base will grow by an average of 2% (pre-Covid-19 levels) each 

year until 2026/27.  From 2023/24 onwards no provision has been 

included for collection fund surpluses or deficits across the MTFP, other 

than the spreading of the 2020/21 deficit over a three year period as 

mandated. The final year being 2023/24.  

 Central government grant has been assumed to increase in line with the 

increases in national funding for policing.  

 Precept increases will be within the assumed Government draft settlement 

level, at an estimated 3% in 2023/24 and then at 2% thereafter.  

 The review of the revenue grant funding formula is currently underway.  It 

remains unclear when the final outcomes of this will be available or when 

or how any changes will be implemented, but this work is progressing at 

some pace by government.  This remains a risk which will be backed by 

reserves across the MTFP as further details are awaited. 

Page 25

Page 23 of 42



  
   

24 
 

 Pay inflation is included at 2.5% in 2023/24 and 2% in 2024/25.  This has 

then been reduced to 1% thereafter. 

 Pay budgets include provision for increments and turnover, which is 

especially material to police officer pay, given the salary ranges of some 

ranks. 

 General inflation is provided at the current agreed rates where there is a 

contractual commitment and as a broad estimate against other budget 

heads. 

The impact of the 2022/23 budget proposals and the assumptions outlined above are 

quantified in the MTFP outlined in table 9 below.  Despite the increased degree of 

certainty on high level funding and precept flexibility as a result of the three year 

spending review, further uncertainty from the review of the national police funding 

formula and other local and national changes particularly given the economic crisis 

created by the pandemic will result in changes to the medium term plans and these 

will be reviewed on an ongoing basis in advance of setting the annual budget and 

MTFP.    The actual precept increase remains a local annual decision for the 

Commissioner. 

 

Across the MTFP period, the financial strategy remains for a good and balanced 

budget which is not reliant on the routine use of reserves to finance any budget 

shortfalls.  Net expenditure must match the resources available to ensure a self-

sufficient, resilient force and encourages greater efficiency and productivity in its 

service delivery.  Earmarked reserves are held for specific purposes and will be used 

to manage risk and one-off costs to deliver policing services over the next five years. 

Further detail on the required movement and use of reserves in the MTFP is 

included within section 11.  

 

Table 9 

 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £m £m £m £m £m 

Opening base budget 114.233 121.214 125.908 130.691 134.898 

Pay inflation, increments, NI & 
pensions 3.659 3.244 3.248 2.538 1.907 

Non-pay inflation 0.471 0.200 0.200 0.200 0.200 

Officer uplift costs 1.792 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Net ICT, shared service and 
business transformation costs (0.811) (0.500) 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Capital financing costs 1.914 0.116 0.385 0.669 0.512 

Unavoidable costs 0.863 0.500 0.500 0.300 0.500 

Business plan changes – 
growth/savings 0.450 0.503 0.500 0.500 0.500 

Safer Roads initiatives 0.250 (0.100) (0.050) 0.000 0.000 

Page 26

Page 24 of 42



  
   

25 
 

Vetting income (0.560) (0.250) 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Uplift grant changes (0.296) 1.006 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Other income changes 
including mutual aid and 
camera enforcement (0.550) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Savings achieved (0.201) (0.025) 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Budget 121.214 125.908 13.691 134.898 138.517 

      

Funding 120.964 124.505 128.745 131.864 135.090 

Budget gap 0.250 1.403 1.946 3.034 3.427 

Reserves usage (Road Safety 
initiatives) (0.250) (0.150) (0.100) (0.100) (0.100) 

Minimum required savings 
not yet identified  0.000 1.253 1.846 2.934 3.327 

 
 

11. Use of reserves and balances 

In considering the 2022/23 budget, the Commissioner has reviewed all of the 

reserves that he holds.   

Allowing for all of the known costs the movement of reserves is summarised below 

over the MTFP period: 

 

Estimated reserve levels on the 1st April 2022            £14.028m 

 

Transfers from Safer Roads Reserve      (£0.700m) 

 

Anticipated reserve levels at the end of the MTFP (31st March 2027) £13.328m 

 

There are a number of more general risks, some of which are largely outside the 

control of the force for which earmarked reserves have either been specifically 

created or they will be covered by either the budget or general reserve, including: 

 

 Known Operations or any unforeseen major or unpredictable policing 

operations, which may be one-off in nature 

 Pay, inflation and supply chain issues 

 Pensions 

 Legal 

 Non-vetting service income fluctuations  

 The commercial national contractor vetting service 

 The national review of the police funding formula 

 Digital technology changes in national police systems 

 Introduction of the Emergency Services network (ESN) 

 Estates strategy 

Page 27

Page 25 of 42



  
   

26 
 

 

Any other exceptional one-off issues, would need to be managed within the general 

reserve.  It is recognised that this may be over and above any special grant 

application to the Home Office, however the reserve levels are set in recognition of 

the tightened criteria for such applications.  The table below shows the reserve 

balances anticipated at the end of each year of the MTFP: 

 

 

Table 10 

 Closing 

balance 

2020/21 

2021/22 

reserve 

transfers 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2021/22 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2022/23 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2023/24 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2024/25 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2025/26 

Forecast 

closing 

balance 

2026/27 

General 

Reserve 

5.000 0.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 5.000 

Earmarked 

reserves: 

        

Budget & 

Transformation 

3.067 1.638 4.705 4.544 4.544 4.544 4.544 4.544 

Transformation 1.378 (1.378) 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Pay 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 

PCC initiatives 0.300 0.000 0.300 0.300 0.300 0.300 0.300 0.300 

Pensions & 

redundancy 

0.500 0.167 0.667 0.667 0.667 0.667 0.667 0.667 

Insurance & 

legal 

0.253 0.247 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 

Income 0.000 0.250 0.250 0.250 0.250 0.250 0.250 0.250 

Covid & 

operational 

contingency 

0.386 0.114 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 0.500 

Collection fund 0.000 0.339 0.339 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Vetting 

reserve 

0.573 0.000 0.573 0.573 0.573 0.573 0.573 0.573 

Safer Roads 1.231 (0.037) 1.194 0.944 0.794 0.694 0.594 0.494 

Page 28

Page 26 of 42



  
   

27 
 

Total 

earmarked 

reserves 

7.688 1.340 9.028 8.778 8.628 8.528 8.428 8.328 

Total 

available 

reserves 

12.688 1.340 14.028 13.778 13.628 13.528 13.428 13.328 

 

  

Each year the Treasurer carries out an assessment of the risks facing the 

Commissioner to determine the minimum level of reserves which he needs to 

continue to hold. The assessment for 2022/23 is that £5.000m still needs to be held 

in a general reserve to provide adequately for all risks. This represents 

approximately 4% of net revenue expenditure.  The £5.000m level has been retained 

since 2017/18, but net revenue expenditure has increased over that period.  The 

Treasurer therefore advises that careful consideration should be given in future 

years to increase the general reserves so that they continue to represent between 

4% and 5% of net revenue expenditure.  In 2022/23, provision of £5m retains 

coverage within this range, and therefore an increase is not deemed necessary, 

especially given the extent of detailed budget work undertaken by the finance team, 

the ongoing success of the commercial services, healthy income streams, spending 

coming under control as the force have rebuilt services and emerged from the former 

strategic alliance and earmarked reserves being held to manage risk and future 

known commitments.  However, in 2023/24 based on the MTFP, £5m of general 

reserve would equate to less than 4% of net revenue expenditure and as part of the 

budget process next year, this level should be reviewed.  Further details of the risk 

assessment are included in the adequacy statement shown below. 

12. Treasurer’s Statement on the Soundness of the Budget and the 
Adequacy of Reserves 

When setting the budget and capital programme for the forthcoming year the PCC 
must be satisfied that adequate consideration has been given to the following: 

 Government policy on police spending, as applied to the PCC 

 The CIPFA prudential code and the treasury management code  

 The impact on the council tax, and the risk of exceeding the limit for triggering 
a referendum 

 Whether the proposals represent a balanced budget for the year 

 The robustness of estimates and the size and adequacy of general and 
specific earmarked reserves 

 The CIPFA financial management code of practice and guidance on the level 
of reserves 

Page 29

Page 27 of 42



  
   

28 
 

 The medium term implications of the budget and capital programme. 

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the Commissioner’s 

Treasurer to provide the Commissioner with assurance on the robustness of 

estimates made for the purposes of the budget calculations and the adequacy of 

reserves. 

The Director of Finance for Warwickshire Police has provided assurance that the 

main assumptions and estimates used for compiling the budget, are set out within 

this report, are robust and that the figures in the 2022/23 budget have been based, in 

his opinion and to the best of his knowledge on sound assumptions.  He has also 

provided assurance that this budget is consistent with the financial strategy (good 

and balanced budget), provides links to the priorities outlined within the Police and 

Crime Plan which is underpinned by the Chief Constables Fit for the Future strategy 

and does not impact adversely on the financial stability of the force in the medium 

term. 

The draft 2022/23 budget has a lessened pressure on reserves, and the ring fenced 

earmarked reserve is only being used to finance one-off costs in respect road safety 

grants.  

A level of uncertainty does exist, in particular around the review of the funding 

formula for policing. The outcomes, timing and implementation of any changes is 

unknown, but it is understood that work is progressing at pace, with some initial 

outputs expected by early summer 2022 and a broad commitment by government 

that this will be completed this parliament.  Further details will be made available in 

time as the work progresses, and networking with colleagues at a local, regional and 

national level will help to improve our levels of understanding.  Until then, reserves 

must continue to be held to manage any changes that may materialise in an adverse 

way, although the scale of any potential change is unknown, to enable a smooth 

transition and to minimise the impact on services.  There are however opportunities 

to improve financial planning through the three year spending review 

announcements and these have been included within the medium term financial 

plan.  The extent of future austerity and the state of the economy, following the end 

of the pandemic as we learn to live with the virus, is of course not entirely known.  

However, given the period under consideration, the figures contained in the MTFP 

represent a reasonable and prudent estimate of the likely position and are a sound 

basis for planning purposes. 

The Treasurer for the PCC can provide assurance on the budget and MTFP in that it 

has been produced in line with the latest government policy, CSR 2021, the 

provisional settlement (which will be updated when the final settlement is 

announced), and is also compliant with the latest CIPFA Treasury Management 

Code and the Prudential Code.   

Page 30

Page 28 of 42



  
   

29 
 

The Localism Act provides communities with the power to veto through a 

referendum, council tax increases considered by the government to be excessive.  

The level set by government for 2022/23 is £10 on a band D property.  This report 

and budget is based on a proposed precept option within this limit, being £9.99.  The 

budget proposed is balanced and assurance has been sought from the Director of 

Finance within the force on the robustness of estimates contained within it.  These 

have been scrutinised and challenged by the Treasurer and have been found to be 

sufficiently robust.  This work has also revealed that the MTFP presents a prudent 

estimate of the future financial pressures that the Commissioner will face.   

The budget, MTFP and underlying assumptions will continue to be monitored 

carefully, along with any national developments, to ensure the Commissioner and 

Chief Constable are sighted on any emerging risks.  Any changes in the final 

settlement and arising from the confirmation of tax bases and collection fund 

surpluses or deficits will be incorporated prior to the final budget being approved.  

The Director of Finance will be undertaking careful monitoring of the budget during 

the course of 2022/23 in conjunction with budget holders to manage spending and 

any consequential impact on reserves. The forecast outturn for 2021/22 looks to be 

on budget with no adverse changes anticipated at this stage.  

In giving assurance on the adequacy of reserves the Treasurer has reviewed levels 

and compliance as outlined in the latest CIPFA guidance on the establishment and 

maintenance of Local Authority reserves and balances, which also applies to PCC’s.  

This guidance sets out the factors that should be taken into account locally in making 

an assessment on the appropriate level of reserves and balances to be held.   

The Commissioners reserves are categorised as - General Reserves, Earmarked 

Reserves and Capital Reserves. These will, in part, be governed by known or likely 

commitments, and, in part, by his appetite for risk. This should include the strategic, 

operational and financial risk facing the force, and also include the potential impact 

of external and internal risks.  The Treasurer has thoroughly reviewed the risks 

facing policing in Warwickshire and reassessed the level of reserves required. In 

doing so, the Treasurer has complied with the CIPFA guidance with the intention 

being to ensure clear, transparent reporting around reserve levels in Warwickshire. 

The following narrative provides some further detail on the approach, evidence and 

assurance regarding the adequacy of reserves. 

Compliance with the 7 key principles in CIPFA’s guidance  

Budget assumptions Current situation in Warwickshire 

The treatment of 

inflation and interest 

rates 

Warwickshire Police (WP) makes full and appropriate 

provision for pay and price rises, based on up-to date 

information and recognising the change in the workforce 

Page 31

Page 29 of 42



  
   

30 
 

profile, increments, recruitment and turnover relevant to 

managing a police establishment. 

Pay inflation represents a more significant risk in the 

2022/23 budget planning process, than in any other recent 

year.  Networking with other forces and local authorities has 

resulted in a range of increases being proposed.  

Warwickshire have included a pay award for officers and 

staff of 3% in 2022/23, which falls in the middle of this range, 

and is therefore deemed prudent.   The actual pay award 

increase will not be known for some time.  If no other in year 

funding is available through underspending or increased 

income, the new pay earmarked reserve will be used to 

manage the risk on the pay award assumption. 

Non-pay inflation has been included where it is contractually 

required, or on the best estimate of inflationary increases, 

based on current spending levels. 

An informed assessment is made of interest rate 

movements. 

All individual expenditure and income budgets are prepared 

based on the forecast outturn and known or estimated 

changes. 

Estimates of the level 

and timing of capital 

receipts 

The PCC and WP make a prudent assumption on the level 

and timing of any future capital receipts. The timing of the 

capital receipts in respect of the sale of excess land at Leek 

Wootton are known and have been built into the financing of 

the capital programme.  A combination of funding from 

capital receipts and borrowing, along with minor other 

sources, is included within the capital plans. 

The treatment of 

demand level 

pressures 

The Force is required to operate and manage within its 

annual budget allocation. 

The Chief Constable retains a modest operational 

contingency within the budget to help finance more minor 

unexpected operations or events that require a policing 

response. The former covid reserve will also help to provide 

further operational risk cover, under its new name of Covid 

and operational contingency.  As a small standalone force 

operational risks can carry a more significant effect on 

financial resources. 

Page 32

Page 30 of 42



  
   

31 
 

The force has already identified significant savings that were 

removed from the budget on the 1st April 2021, along with 

some minor savings in April 2022.  The draft budget 

represents a balanced position, although the MTFP 

indicates that more significant savings are required over the 

next three years.  These equate to approximately £1m per 

annum for each year from 2023/24 to 2025/26.   

Any significant pressures from changes in demand would 

need to be addressed initially from other savings within the 

in-year budget, and the budget or general reserve would 

only be used in the more serious situations. 

Government grants are generally announced annually in 

advance and are cash limited. Any new policing pressures 

arising during the year will have to be funded from within the 

budget which will ultimately require other savings or 

efficiencies to be found. 

The PCC holds a number of earmarked revenue reserves to 

help finance specific expenditure commitments. 

Appropriations are made to and from these reserves on an 

annual basis as approved by the PCC and in line with the 

purpose of the reserve. 

Finally general reserves will only be used as a last resort to 

manage and fund demand-led pressures.   

The treatment of 

planned efficiency 

savings and 

productivity gains 

£4m of savings were identified as part of the budget setting 

process for 2021/22, and further efficiency savings in 

2021/22 were also identified and delivered.  The forecast 

outturn for 2021/22 is on track with an increased contribution 

to reserves projected.  The Commissioner has set his new 

Police and Crime Plan priorities, which are underpinned by 

the Chief Constables Fit For the Future strategy.  The 

2022/23 budget will deliver a number of anticipated benefits 

which will drive more efficient working and increased 

productivity, particularly through the introduction and 

development of power applications following the recent 

investments in modern, robust and compliant ICT.  Further 

savings are required over the MTFP, averaging 

approximately £1m per annum from 2023/24 to 2025/26 

inclusive.   Early planning for these through the operational 

review overseen by Chief Officers and the business 

transformation team will identify options for addressing this, 

should they be required as further information is known to 

Page 33

Page 31 of 42



  
   

32 
 

test the assumptions and the medium term position 

becomes clearer through the monitoring and annual budget 

setting processes.   

The financial risks 

inherent in any 

significant new funding 

partnerships, 

collaboration, major 

outsourcing 

arrangements or major 

capital developments  

The financial consequences of partnership, collaboration 

working, outsourcing arrangements or capital investment are 

reported to the PCC as part of the regular monitoring and 

budget review process.  Where relevant any additional costs 

have been incorporated in the annual revenue budget. 

These are reviewed regularly during the year in the budget 

monitoring reports report and where necessary the MTFP is 

amended.  

Warwickshire have established new partnership working 

arrangements with West Midland police for forensics 

services which is operating well and will continue to be 

monitored closely.  All the anticipated costs are included 

within the budget and MTFP.   

Some historical storage facilities will remain with West 

Mercia in the medium term at relatively minor cost, which 

has been provided for in the budget and MTFP.  Whilst the 

ICT services have not fully transitioned away from the 

hosted West Mercia service, assurances around this and the 

costs have been received from the Chief Constable and at 

the time of writing, no significant additional transitional cost 

is anticipated.  The embedding of ICT services and systems 

does remain a risk financially and operationally and any 

costs, in the absence of increased income or underspending 

in year will be met from the budget/transformation reserve, 

subject to approval by the Commissioner. 

There is a risk that local authority partners will withdraw 

funding from projects due to increasing pressure and 

demands on their own budgets.  This may also manifest as 

requests for increased contributions from policing, putting 

additional pressure on police budgets.  Any such instances 

of this need to be managed through the strong working 

relationships that we have with partners.  

The continued viability of private sector commercial partners 

will be exposed to increased risks in the event of an 

economic recession or other challenges, for example around 

meeting demand/staffing as we emerge from the pandemic 

or around supply chain pressures. 

Page 34

Page 32 of 42



  
   

33 
 

The availability of 

reserves, government 

grants and other funds 

to deal with major 

contingencies and the 

adequacy of 

provisions. 

The PCC has retained a number of earmarked revenue 

reserves to meet specific expenditure items. These are 

included within this report. 

The access criteria for special grants state that PCCs may 

be required to fund up to 1% of their net budget requirement 

themselves before the Government considers grant aid. This 

applies on an annual basis.  However, the grant criteria have 

been tightened and the likelihood of special grant funding 

has therefore reduced, This risk will always be provided for 

within the general reserve. 

Reserve levels have remained resilient, throughout the 

pandemic, and while the force has implemented a huge ICT 

transformation programme, and stood up services in 

Warwickshire following the exit from the former alliance. This 

process is nearing completion, and the next phase of driving 

out more efficient working will begin.  HS2 policing of the 

construction site is anticipated to be an ongoing drain on 

resources over the medium to longer term as its construction 

continues and this will be monitored, and any other funding 

opportunities considered if they become available.   

The general financial 

climate to which the 

PCC is subject. 

The finance settlement for 2022/23 was generally positive.  

Government support for the recruitment of the final tranche 

of 8,000 additional officers has been confirmed, which 

equates to 55 additional officers in Warwickshire. The 

settlement also provides for precept flexibility on a band D 

property of up to £10 in 2022/23.  However, crime and the 

challenges facing policing as well as policing itself continues 

to evolve at pace, and there remains some uncertainty 

regarding the review of the police funding formula, and the 

impact this may have on Warwickshire, in addition to the 

timing of its implementation. However, the medium term 

financial plan over a 5 year period reflects our best estimate 

of future inflation rates, cost pressures, increases in 

government grants and revenues raised from Council Tax as 

they impact on the Force, and the consequences of the 

funding formula review risk will continue to be monitored as 

more information becomes available in time.  

General inflation in the U.K. has increased recently above 

5%, and energy costs have increased considerably and are 

estimated to increase still further.  This is putting pressure 

on personal finances, pay budgets to keep up with 

Page 35

Page 33 of 42



  
   

34 
 

inflationary increases, but also concerns around the 

affordability of increases in the precept, but the issues 

around each of these are being monitored through 

engagements and communication with the public and key 

stakeholders.   

The economic impact of the global pandemic is not yet fully 

known, as infection rates continue to rise and new variants 

emerge. It is becoming increasing evident that this is a long 

term issue and living with the virus and managing the 

impacts of it is likely to become the new norm, with 

government further easing restrictions later this month. 

 

General Reserve 

In recent years, the Treasurer has undertaken a review of the significant risks and 

pressures facing the Police and Crime Commissioner before setting a minimum level 

of reserves held in a General Reserve. In addition, the Treasurer has undertaken a 

comprehensive review of all reserves held.  This has been undertaken again this 

year in light of the current circumstances in which the force is operating. 

The key risks the Police and Crime Commissioner faces (and for which no specific 

provision in Earmarked Reserves is made) are:  

The possibility of savings targets not being met. In 2021/22, a specific allocation for 

this within earmarked reserves was removed as significant savings were delivered 

prior to the start of the year.  The 2022/23 draft budget is indicating a balanced 

position, and although savings are outlined across the MTFP, early planning through 

the operational review should be able to accommodate such savings if they are 

required as more financial information is available prior to 2023/24.  

Provision for possible delays in the delivery of savings was set at £0.500m in 

2021/22.  It is recommended as part of the risk assessment, that provision for 

delayed savings is removed as there is ample time for planning for savings identified 

from 2023/24 onwards in the MTFP, and a strategy for dealing with this is in hand. 

Budgets are now better understood as we emerge from the former alliance, and the 

forecast outturn in 2021/22 is on track and an underspend or increased contribution 

to reserves is anticipated.   

The risks surrounding the funding formula review which has been commenced by 

Government, does require some set aside within the general reserve.  The timing 

and implementation of any outcomes is still slightly uncertain, although work is 

progressing at pace, and some early indications and communication are anticipated 

by early summer 2022.  Little information is known, although the Government have 

indicated a commitment to implement changes during this parliament.  Whether this 

Page 36

Page 34 of 42



  
   

35 
 

comes to fruition will be the subject of further work over coming months.  The Home 

Office did consult on a new formula during 2015 but later abandoned the 

consultation. At the time estimates of the impact on Warwickshire ranged from a 

decrease of approximately £2m to an increase of over £2m in funding, so the range 

was very broad.  In order to mitigate any risks around this it is recommended that 

£1.000m of the general reserve be identified to deal with this risk, if the outcome is 

that Warwickshire’s share of funding will be decreased.  This will help to manage the 

transitional process, as any changes are implemented. 

Any unforeseen costs in establishing and embedding the ICT and transactional 

service arrangements in Warwickshire.  It is acknowledged that ICT represents the 

single most complex and costly area of transition, and although the majority of 

transition and transformation work should be completed by April 2022, this remains 

at risk until all services are delivered in Warwickshire and outside of the hosted 

services by West Mercia.  The Commissioner and Chief Officer teams continue to be 

updated regularly, on the ICT transition and the related governance arrangements 

with West Mercia, which are also overseen by an independent intermediary with links 

to the Home Office.  There is growing certainty regarding the transition, but this 

remains at risk, the next few weeks and months are critical and it therefore feels 

prudent to allocate £0.500m within the General Reserve to manage this risk.   

To provide cover for “extraordinary” events or investigations, recognising that these 

would be likely to attract Special Police Grant (for costs in excess of 1% of the 

budget). HS2 policing is likely to escalate and in the absence of any additional 

funding, cover in general reserves is prudent. Likewise the pandemic has 

demonstrated that ‘extraordinary’ events can be resource intensive and lead to 

significant additional cost.  However, it has also been evident that in such 

circumstance additional government funding is likely to be made available to manage 

the financial pressures that such events create, although there is often a time lag 

between costs being incurred and assistance being confirmed.  Nonetheless a 

prudent provision for such events might be a provision of approximately £2.0m, 

roughly 1.5% of the annual core funding level.  

The risk of increased inflation. The Medium Term Financial Plan includes prudent 

assumptions regarding the estimated increases in budgets for pay and other 

inflation. Whilst an earmarked reserve has been set up to manage any variation in 

the pay assumption due to the specific uncertainty in this area of spend this year, an 

allocation of £0.500m is suggested within the general reserve is suggested to cover 

any increase in non-pay inflation and supply chain costs. 

The risks associated with future austerity over and above any funding formula review 

changes that may impact Warwickshire.  Whilst the impact and severity of any future 

austerity measures is unknown, this remains a risk despite the improved economic 

forecasts in the CSR announcement.  The three year spending review has outlined 

the increases in national police funding over the next two years which gives 

increased certainty in the medium term, but what is not clear is how this funding will 

Page 37

Page 35 of 42



  
   

36 
 

translate at a local level.  Despite this, it is suggested that no specific provision be 

allocated to this currently, on the basis that actions would need to be taken to 

mitigate any significant reductions, and that the earmarked budget reserve, and 

provision within the general reserve for the funding formula should be adequate to 

manage the potential risk regarding reductions in core funding should they occur 

while actions are introduced to reduce costs as part of a planned approach. 

The risks associated with future council tax funding.  Council tax funding appears to 

be very resilient despite the pandemic, it is less clear if this will be sustained as 

pressure increases on the cost of living, particularly if pay increases do not keep 

pace.  However, prudent estimates of council tax funding are included in the MTFP, 

and on this basis it is not suggested that additional allocations are identified within 

general reserves to cover this risk, as they would need to be dealt with as part of the 

annual budget setting process. 

The risks associated with our commercial vetting service are managed through the 

vetting earmarked reserve and also through the budget reserve if necessary.  The 

service is currently performing well and demand is high, but reputation, legal and 

financial risks remain.  The Warwickshire service is accredited and the Chief 

Constable is the national lead for vetting and will therefore remain abreast of risk and 

any future changes or developments in this area of service.  Therefore, no specific 

additional allocation of the general reserve to manage this risk is recommended at 

this stage. 

There is still a lack of complete clarity around government plans on the timing and 

costs for the replacement of the Airwaves network (referred to as ESN). However, 

prudent levels of funding, including grant have been made in the Medium Term 

Capital Programme, and any significant additional capital costs that may occur in the 

short term would have to be met from reviewing the capital programme.   Any 

increased revenue costs or grant reductions in the short term would need to be 

funded from further efficiencies or the budget reserve.it is suggested that no 

provision within general reserves therefore be made currently. 

There should be a general contingency provision for unknowns. Assessing a prudent 

level for this is impossible, but would be unlikely to be less than 1% of net revenue 

expenditure, which equates to around £1m.  

The total cost of the provision required from within the general reserve, where it is 

possible to make any informed assessment is £5m. This is equivalent to 

approximately 4% of the net revenue budget   However, it should be noted that the 

effect of any single event could impact significantly, and the recommendation is that 

serious consideration be given to increasing the general reserve to £6m in 2023/24 

to keep pace with the anticipated increases in the net budget, and to retain coverage 

of between 4% and 5% in general reserve provision.  The Commissioner does not 

necessarily have to provide money in reserves for each of these risk elements 

individually, unless they are certain to occur, as one contingency can provide for 

Page 38

Page 36 of 42



  
   

37 
 

several possible events, provided that all of the events are considered to be unlikely 

to occur together. However, he does need to give realistic consideration to the 

likelihood of them occurring during the period covered by the plan.  

Given all of these assessments, it is recommended that a minimum level of £5.0m is 

provided in general reserves.  However, this will be kept under constant review over 

the next 12 months, with an anticipation that this may need to be increased from 

2023/24 onwards as net revenue expenditure increases. 

Provided that this sum is available at all times within reserves, I am satisfied that the 

level of reserves held is adequate based on known information and risk.   

Earmarked Reserves 

The predicted balance at 31 March 2023 for each earmarked revenue reserve is 

shown in the table below. 

Table 11 

Earmarked 

Reserve 

Balance 

at 1st 

April 

2022   

£m 

Transfers 

(net)  £m 

Movement 

In Year   

£m 

Forecast 

Balance 

at 31st 

March 

2023     

£m 

Purpose of 

Reserve 

Budget & 

Transformation 

4.705 (0.161) 0.000 4.544 To support one off 

costs that may 

emerge in the 

revenue budget 

and to finance any 

additional 

transformation 

work to provide 

and embed 

services on the 

new Warwickshire 

infrastructure and 

systems. 

Vetting 0.573 0.000 0.000 0.573 To manage any 

reputational, legal 

or financial risk 

around the 

commercial vetting 

service 

Page 39

Page 37 of 42



  
   

38 
 

Safer Roads 

Partnership  

1.194 0.000 (0.250) 0.944 Ring-fenced funds 

held to finance 

road safety 

initiatives.   

Pension & 

Redundancy 

0.667 0.000 0.000 0.667 To fund any 

increased pension 

costs or change 

costs arising from 

transformation or 

the operational 

review. 

Insurance and 

Legal Claims 

0.500 0.000 0.000 0.500 Reserve to 

manage risks 

around potentially 

increased costs 

PCC Grants 

and Initiatives 

0.300 0.000 0.000 0.300 To fund one-off 

schemes and 

initiatives with 

partners or to 

manage increased 

commissioned 

service costs 

Collection 

Fund 

0.339 (0.339) 0.000 0.000 To manage 

collection fund risk, 

but transferred to 

the budget and 

transformation 

reserve 

Income 0.250 0.000 0.000 0.250 To manage 

fluctuations and 

pressures on non-

vetting income 

Covid and 

operational 

contingency 

0.500 0.000 0.000 0.500 To deal with any 

remaining 

pandemic risk and 

to provide 

operational 

policing 

contingency 

Page 40

Page 38 of 42



  
   

39 
 

Pay 0.000 0.500 0.000 0.500 To address any 

variation in the pay 

award above that 

assumed as part of 

the 2022/23 draft 

budget.   

Total 

Earmarked 

Reserves 

9.028 0.000 (0.250) 8.778  

 

Capital Reserves and Balances 

In addition to the revenue reserves, capital reserves are also maintained. These are 

used to finance the capital programme.  

Capital Grants Unapplied are set aside on the balance sheet. This holds the capital 

grants from the Home Office that have not yet been spent. These grants are applied 

to fund the capital programme and can be carried forward without penalty until 

required. The balance on the reserve as at 1St April 2021 was £0.0m. 

There is a Capital Receipts Reserve. This holds receipts from the sale of police land 

and buildings which are no longer needed for operational policing as more efficient 

use is made of partners’ and the policing estate. The funding table in section 9 above 

outlines the receipts expected from asset sales from 2022/23 to 2026/27. The 

balance on the reserve as at 1St April 2021 was £0.0m. 

13. Summary and final conclusion 

As part of the 2022/23 budget setting process, there has been a comprehensive 

review of the budget, the medium term position and all the reserves held by the 

Police and Crime Commissioner. This report sets out clearly the Commissioners 

budget, including the proposed precept increase, and his rationale which includes 

the anticipated benefits that the budget and precept increase will bring.  In addition, 

information relating to the Medium term financial plan, capital programme and the 

reserves held, the purpose for which they are held, the plans for their use and the 

risks and assumptions underpinning them has also been provided. 

Based on current planning assumptions, the level of general reserves should stay at 

£5m through to 2026/27, although it has been flagged that consideration be given to 

increasing this as part of next year’s review on reviews to maintain a 4% - 5% 

coverage against net revenue expenditure.  Sufficient provision has been made in 

earmarked reserves to fund expected one-off pressures and the identified risks.  

Over the last twelve months the force has continued to deal well with changing 

demands and crime profiles often influenced by the effect of Covid restrictions and 

Page 41

Page 39 of 42



  
   

40 
 

lockdowns.  The force has been flexible and adaptive.in its approach and has 

worked well with partners to keep communities safe, all of which has been achieved 

at a time when it has undertaken one of the most ambitious programmes of 

transformation, led by a new Chief Constable and through its energised and 

empowered work force.   

This good and balanced budget has not been achieved without the need for difficult 

decisions, not least around the precept, made more difficult by the increased 

pressures on personal finances due to rising inflation and surging energy costs.  

However, based on a £9.99 precept increase, this budget will deliver a number of 

benefits for policing in Warwickshire.  The final phase of transition is almost 

complete, but until this has occurred, risks remain.  However, the forecast outturn 

position for 2021/22 appears to be on track with a small increased contribution to 

reserves anticipated and this helps to support the view that the force is getting to a 

position where it can demonstrate its financial resilience and sustainability.  A 

precept increase of less than £9.99 could potentially compromise this resilience and 

would mean that some of the service benefits may not be realised, although the final 

decision on how this would be managed, would lie with the Chief Constable.   

The figures presented in this report are draft, and are subject to final confirmation on 

the police funding settlement and from billing authorities on their council tax bases 

and collection fund surpluses.  Any changes arising from these notifications will be 

incorporated into the final approved budget and council tax requirement approved by 

the Commissioner. 

Whilst the 2022/23 draft budget is showing a balanced position, there remain 

challenges in the medium term, with £3m of savings outlined in the MTFP, across 

the next three years, and the loss of capital grant in the 2022/23 settlement brings 

with it challenges to identify a sustainable capital financing model into the future.  

The Commissioner will continue to hold the Chief Constable to account during 

2022/23 and will monitor progress on the delivery of the promised operational 

benefits and spending of the revenue and capital budget to ensure that the 

resources made available are used in accordance with the outlined plans and enable 

Warwickshire to confidently and successfully deliver value for money policing 

services that protect the vulnerable, deliver improved outcomes for victims and keep 

communities safe. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42

Page 40 of 42



  
   

41 
 

APPENDIX A 

1. AFFORDABILITY 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 

Forecast Budget Budget Budget Budget Budget 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Capital Expenditure 18,349 4,685 5,682 5,370 4,521 6,004 

              

  % % % % % % 

Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream 

2.68% 4.49% 4.73% 5.15% 5.83% 6.35% 

              

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

In Year borrowing 
requirement 

            

 - in year borrowing requirement 13,393 2,248 2,743 4,783 4,521 6,004 

 - Total Borrowing Requirement 23,548 24,564 25,792 29,327 32,475 36,994 

              

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

In year Capital Financing 
Requirement 

43,890 41,953 40,251 40,209 39,313 39,470 

              

  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 £’000  

Capital Financing 
Requirement 31 March 2020 
onwards 

43,890 41,953 40,251 40,209 39,313 39,470 

              

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Affordable Borrowing Limit             

Increase per council tax payer £2.71 £4.07 £0.54 £0.91 £1.48 £1.18 

              

2. TREASURY MANAGEMENT 
PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 

2021/2022 2022/2023 2023/2024 2024/2025 2025/2026 2026/2027 

Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit 

              

Authorised limit for external 
debt 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 - Borrowing Note 1 45,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 60,000 50,000 

              

Operational boundary for 
external debt 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

 - Borrowing Note 2 35,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 40,000 

              

Upper limit for fixed rate 
interest exposure 

            

Page 43

Page 41 of 42



  
   

42 
 

 - net principal re fixed rate 
borrowing / investments Note 3 

35,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 40,000 

              

Upper limit for variable rate 
exposure 

            

 - net principal re variable rate 
borrowing / investments Note 4 

£10m £10m £10m £10m £10m £10m 

 

       
 

       

 

       

 

       

 

 

Page 44

Page 42 of 42



2022/23 Draft budget and precept proposal
Police & Crime Panel Meeting – 27th January 2022

P
age 45

P
age 1 of 7

P
age 1 of 7



Background to Draft budget 2022/23
▪ 3 year spending review announced 27th October 2021
▪ Provisional Police funding settlement announced 16th December 2021

• £10 precept flexibility
• Increased core grant
• Commitment to final tranche of uplift programme
• Abolition of capital grant
• Ending of public sector pay freeze

▪ Budget presented in draft – subject to final settlement, and clarity on council tax positions from billing authorities
▪ £9.99 proposed precept increase (3.95%) on a Band D property
▪ Net budget requirement £120.964m

• £64.254m core grant
• £56.710m estimated precept funding (including collection fund surplus)

P
age 46

P
age 2 of 7



2022/23 main assumptions
▪ 3% pay award in 2022/23 and increments applied as anticipated
▪ 55 new Uplift Police officers
▪ 1.7% council tax base increase (subject to final confirmation)
▪ £0.280m net collection fund surplus (subject to final confirmation)
▪ Provisional finance settlement core grant changes included as notified
▪ £9.99 precept increase on Band D properties (3.95% increase)
▪ Non pay inflation provided on specific budget heads & were contractually agreed
▪ £0.250m use of road safety reserve for road safety grants and projects

▪ Balanced draft 2022/23 budget

▪ Budget assumptions critical
• Each 1% on pay award change = £0.950m (annual cost)
• Each 1% on precept = £0.530m 
• Each £1 on precept =  £0.210m

P
age 47

P
age 3 of 7



2022/23 draft budget in summary
Category of spend 2021/22 approved budget                

£m
2022/23 draft budget              

£m
Variance       

£m

Police officer, PCSO & staff pay related costs 87.090 95.055 7.965
Other employee expenses 2.185 2.375 0.190
Premises costs 3.027 3.523 0.496
Transport 2.790 2.847 0.057
Supplies and Services 13.958 14.709 0.751
Third party payments 13.193 11.264 (1.929)
Capital financing costs 3.262 5.176 1.914
Gross expenditure 125.505 134.949 9.444

Income (11.272) (13.735) (2.463)

Net force budget 114.233 121.214 6.981

Contribution (from) reserves 0.000 (0.250) 0.250
Contribution to reserves 1.117 0.000 1.117

‘Draft’ Net budget requirement 115.350 120.964 5.614

Funded by:
Core Central Grant (62.188) (64.254) (2.066)
Council Tax Precept (53.162) (56.710) (3.548)
Total Funding/net budget requirement (115.350) (120.964) (5.614)

P
age 48

P
age 4 of 7



Anticipated benefits from the proposed 2022/23 
draft budget

• Provide enhanced services for contacting the force eg face to face, digital contacts and telephone
• 55 additional police officers to provide resilience and increased visibility, supported with appropriate equipment, 

training and fleet. 
• Strengthen the response to violence against women and girls with investment in our vulnerability teams to build 

capacity and capability.
• Improved investigative standards and criminal justice outcomes through investment in Evidential Review Officers to 

drive up file quality to increase the likelihood of positive outcomes for victims.
• Better equipment and enhanced training for Specials to further support SNT’s and provide increased visibility
• Improved ICT infrastructure and systems to enable flexible and remote working on more robust Warwickshire 

networks, and the introduction of power applications to drive more efficient working from the recent investments.
• Improvement in the police estate and commitments to improving its sustainability.
• Increased resources for road safety and domestic and sexual abuse victims through increased Commissioners grants.

P
age 49

P
age 5 of 7



Capital, Reserves and Medium Term Financial 
Plan (MTFP)

• 2022/23 capital budget £4.7m, funded mainly from capital receipts and borrowing
• Total reserves 31st March 2022 estimated to be £14.0m, including the general reserve of £5.0m
• Reserves used to manage risk:

• ICT transformation and investments
• Significant one-off policing incidents
• Commercial vetting service
• Pay assumption variations
• Legal and insurance risks
• Funding formula review
• Ring fenced road safety reserve

• £3m of savings required over the MTFP, Approx £1m per year from 2023/24 onwards.
• Target operating review planned to help identify potential savings options early

P
age 50

P
age 6 of 7



Summary
• 2022/23 draft budget is good and balanced, linked with Police and Crime Plan priorities and delivers benefits 

against which performance will be monitored
• 2021/22 forecast outturn is showing a small net underspend 
• £9.99 proposed precept increase for a Band D property

• £0.83p per month, lower banded properties pay less and vice versa
• Government assumes that PCC’s will take the maximum increase
• Each 1% of precept = £0.530m

• Draft budget subject to final confirmations on settlement and council tax.
• Total reserves 31st March 2022 estimated to be £14.0m, including the general reserve of £5.0m
• ICT transition and transformation almost complete, but some risks remain
• Sustainable capital funding challenge required in medium to longer term
• £3m of savings required over the MTFP, approx £1m per year from 2023/24 onwards.

P
age 51

P
age 7 of 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Budget Consultation Results
Your Police, Your Views 2022-23

P
age 53

P
age 1 of 12

P
age 1 of 12



Introduction and methodology

P
age 54

P
age 2 of 12



Promotion and uptake

P
age 55

P
age 3 of 12



Respondent breakdown

62.38%

35.44%

0.61%

1.58%

Non-
binary

Self-
describe

White

96%
All other 

ethnic groups

4%

I don’t live in Warwickshire but I 
work or own a business there

Have you contacted Warwickshire 
Police in the last year?

Yes
No

Do you know there are support 
services for victims?

Yes
No

Not
Sure

67%
33%

73%
17%

10%

93% 7%
Yes No

P
age 56

P
age 4 of 12



Summary of results

▪ 466 

▪ 301 

P
age 57

P
age 5 of 12



Summary of results

 548 

P
age 58

P
age 6 of 12



31%

17%13%

39% Taxpayers
who gave 

a view

Most people view a precept increase as affordable

• There are still significant numbers who view any raise as 
unaffordable, though the picture is different area by area

• A larger proportion in Nuneaton & Bedworth (46%) cannot afford any 
increase

• More people can afford a small increase in Rugby than no increase
• Minority ethnic groups are less likely to find a raise unaffordable than 

average

Key Insights

Results by demographic

North Warwickshire Nuneaton & Bedworth Rugby

Stratford-on-Avon Warwick Minority ethnic groups

61% view   
a raise as
affordable

39% view 
a raise as 
unaffordable

P
age 59

P
age 7 of 12



14%

10%

45%

31%

There is support for the maximum precept raise
• With context around the size of an increase, support for the 

maximum raise increases considerably from 13% to 45%.
• Older people (65+) support for a freeze only half of that of £10 raise
• Nuneaton & Bedworth the only area where support for a freeze was 

the highest response, though a majority still support a raise.
• Half of 18-24 year olds support the maximum raise; but 30% don’t 

pay Council Tax and 13% support a freeze.

Key Insights

Results by demographic

North Warwickshire Nuneaton & Bedworth Rugby

Stratford-on-Avon Warwick Older people (65+)

69%   
support 
some form 
of raise

31% do not 
support any
raise

A £5 per year 
increase (Band D)

A £7.50 per year 
increase (Band D)

A £10 per year 
increase (Band D)

A precept freeze
(No increase)

Don’t pay Council 
Tax

All
Taxpayers

P
age 60

P
age 8 of 12



Priorities for spending

1.

2.
3.

4.
5.

P
age 61

P
age 9 of 12



Where greater focus is needed

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

P
age 62

P
age 10 of 12



Visibility and accessibility

1.
2.
3.
4.

1.
2.
3.
4.

P
age 63

P
age 11 of 12



Conclusions

• Improved ICT infrastructure and systems to enable flexible and remote working on more robust Warwickshire networks.
• Additional funding for the Commissioner’s grants to promote crime prevention activity and road safety.

P
age 64

P
age 12 of 12


	Agenda
	1 Proposed Local Police Precept 2022/23
	FINAL for PCP - Budget Report Presentation PCP 27-01-22
	2022/23 Draft budget and precept proposal
	Background to Draft budget 2022/23
	2022/23 main assumptions
	2022/23 draft budget in summary
	Anticipated benefits from the proposed 2022/23 draft budget
	Capital, Reserves and Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP)
	Summary

	Budget Consultation Results 2022-23
	Budget Consultation Results
	Introduction and methodology
	Promotion and uptake
	Respondent breakdown
	Summary of results
	Summary of results
	Most people view a precept increase as affordable
	There is support for the maximum precept raise
	Priorities for spending
	Where greater focus is needed
	Visibility and accessibility
	Conclusions



